

# UNIVERSIDAD DE INVESTIGACIÓN DE TECNOLOGÍA EXPERIMENTAL YACHAY

## Escuela de Ciencias Biológicas e Ingeniería

# **Enzyme-based biosensors for pesticide detection**

Trabajo de integración curricular presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Ingeniero Biomédico.

## Autor:

Tobar Rosero Braulio Hernán

# Tutor:

PhD. Gonzales Zubiate Fernando Alexis

Urcuquí, diciembre 2020



Urcuquí, 1 de diciembre de 2020

### SECRETARÍA GENERAL (Vicerrectorado Académico/Cancillería) ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA CARRERA DE BIOMEDICINA ACTA DE DEFENSA No. UITEY-BIO-2020-00040-AD

A los 1 días del mes de diciembre de 2020, a las 09:30 horas, de manera virtual mediante videoconferencia, y ante el Tribunal Calificador, integrado por los docentes:

Presidente Tribunal de Defensa	Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D.
Miembro No Tutor	Dr. ALVAREZ BOTAS, FRANCISCO JAVIER , Ph.D.
Tutor	Dr. GONZALES ZUBIATE, FERNANDO ALEXIS , Ph.D.

El(la) señor(ita) estudiante **TOBAR ROSERO, BRAULIO HERNAN**, con cédula de identidad No. **0923711030**, de la **ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA**, de la Carrera de **BIOMEDICINA**, aprobada por el Consejo de Educación Superior (CES), mediante Resolución **RPC-SO-43-No.496-2014**, realiza a través de videoconferencia, la sustentación de su trabajo de titulación denominado: **Enzyme-based biosensors for pesticide detection**, previa a la obtención del título de **INGENIERO/A BIOMÉDICO/A**.

El citado trabajo de titulación, fue debidamente aprobado por el(los) docente(s):

Tutor Dr. GONZALES ZUBIATE, FERNANDO ALEXIS, Ph.D.

Y recibió las observaciones de los otros miembros del Tribunal Calificador, las mismas que han sido incorporadas por el(la) estudiante.

Previamente cumplidos los requisitos legales y reglamentarios, el trabajo de titulación fue sustentado por el(la) estudiante y examinado por los miembros del Tribunal Calificador. Escuchada la sustentación del trabajo de titulación a través de videoconferencia, que integró la exposición de el(la) estudiante sobre el contenido de la misma y las preguntas formuladas por los miembros del Tribunal, se califica la sustentación del trabajo de titulación con las siguientes calificaciones:

Тіро	Docente	Calificación
Tutor	Dr. GONZALES ZUBIATE, FERNANDO ALEXIS , Ph.D.	9,8
Miembro Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. ALVAREZ BOTAS, FRANCISCO JAVIER , Ph.D.	9,9
Presidente Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D.	. 10,0

Lo que da un promedio de: 9.9 (Nueve punto Nueve), sobre 10 (diez), equivalente a: APROBADO

Para constancia de lo actuado, firman los miembros del Tribunal Calificador, el/la estudiante y el/la secretario ad-hoc.

Certifico que en cumplimiento del Decreto Ejecutivo 1017 de 16 de marzo de 2020, la defensa de trabajo de titulación (o examen de grado modalidad teórico práctica) se realizó vía virtual, por lo que las firmas de los miembros del Tribunal de Defensa de Grado, constan en forma digital.

TOBAR ROSERO, BRAULIO HERNAN Estudiante

Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D. **Presidente Tribunal de Defensa** 



 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Dr}}.$  GONZALES ZUBIATE, FERNANDO ALEXIS , Ph.D. Tutor

Dr. ALVAREZ BOTAS, FRANCISCO JAVIER , Ph.D. Miembro No Tutor

ALARCON FELIX, KARLA ESTEFANIA Secretario Ad-hoc



FIRME ELECTRICEMENT PORT ELECTRICAL ELECTRICAL ALARCON FELIX

## AUTORÍA

Yo, **BRAULIO HERNÁN TOBAR ROSERO**, con cédula de identidad 0923711030 declaro que las ideas, juicios, valoraciones, interpretaciones, consultas bibliográficas, definiciones y conceptualizaciones expuestas en el presente trabajo; así cómo, los procedimientos y herramientas utilizadas en la investigación, son de absoluta responsabilidad del autor del trabajo de integración curricular. Así mismo, me acojo a los reglamentos internos de la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay.

Urcuquí, diciembre de 2020,

BruthEde

Braulio Hernán Tobar Rosero CI: 0923711030

# **AUTORIZACIÓN DE PUBLICACIÓN**

Yo, **BRAULIO HERNÁN TOBAR ROSERO**, con cédula de identidad 0923711030, cedo a la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay, los derechos de publicación de la presente obra, sin que deba haber un reconocimiento económico por este concepto. Declaro además que el texto del presente trabajo de títulación no podrá ser cedido a ninguna empresa editorial para publicación u otros fines, sin contar previamente con la autorización escrita de la Universidad.

Asimismo, autorizo a la Universidad que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo de integración curricular en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en el Art. 144 de la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior.

Urcuquí, diciembre de 2020,

Braulio Hernán Tobar Rosero CI: 0923711030

## Resumen

La industria agrícola en Ecuador es la industria no petrolera de mayor recaudación bruta. Con el fin de mantener altos niveles de calidad y producción, el control de plagas y enfermedades es necesario. En Ecuador, las plagas son atacadas principalmente con pesticidas, en lugar de control biológico. Esto crea una dependencia de pesticidas en la agricultura que podría potencialmente convertirse en un problema de salud pública para las comunidades de agricultores e incluso para los consumidores. La detección de plaguicidas es posible con el desarrollo de biosensores enzimáticos. Un biosensor basado en enzimas permite la detección de cualquier analito que sea catalizado por la enzima o inhiba la actividad catalítica de la enzima. El biosensado es un método de bajo costo y alta sensibilidad con un diseño portátil simple. Esta tesis es una revisión de las enzimas que se han utilizado como elemento biosensible en la construcción de biosensores basados en enzimas. Los biosensores se han clasificado según el mecanismo de trabajo aplicado para la detección: inhibición o catálisis. Existen biosensores ópticos, potenciométricos o voltamétricos que podrían aplicarse para la detección de plaguicidas comunes utilizados en Ecuador. Por lo tanto, es tanto un desafío como una oportunidad para desarrollar y comercializar biosensores enzimáticos en Ecuador.

Palabras claves: Pesticidas, Biosensores enzimáticos

#### Abstract

The agricultural industry in Ecuador is the highest non-petroleum grossing industry. In order to maintain high quality and production levels, pest and disease control are needed. In Ecuador, pests are mainly attacked using pesticides, rather than biological control. This creates a pesticide dependence in agriculture that could potentially become a public health issue for the farmer communities and even the consumers. Pesticide screening is possible with the development of enzyme based-biosensors. An enzymebased biosensor permits the detection of any analyte that is catalyzed by the enzyme or inhibits the catalytic activity of the enzyme. It is a low cost, high sensitivity method with simple portable design. This thesis is a review of the enzymes that have been used as biosensing element in the construction of enzyme-based biosensors. Biosensors have been classified according to the work mechanism applied for the detection: inhibition or catalytic-based. There are optical, potentiometric or voltammetric biosensors that could be applied for the detection of common pesticides used in Ecuador. It is therefore both a challenge and an opportunity to develop and commercialize enzyme-based biosensors in Ecuador.

Keywords: Pesticides, Enzyme-Based Biosensors

# Table of contents

Abstract
List of tables
List of figures
Introduction
Problem Statement
Objectives
Types of pesticides
Pesticide detection
Biosensors
Enzyme based biosensors
Inhibition-based Biosensors
Cholinesterase-Based Biosensors
Peroxidase-Based Biosensors11
Tyrosinase-Based Biosensors12
Alkaline Phosphatase-Based Biosensor14
Acid Phosphatase-Based Biosensor15
Laccase-Based Biosensor16
Urease-Based Biosensor16
Aldehyde Dehydrogenase-Based Biosensor17
Glutathione S-Transferase-Based Biosensor
Catalytic-Based Biosensor 19
Organophosphorus Hydrolase-Based Biosensor19
Methyl parathion hydrolase-based biosensors 20
Discussion
Conclusions
Abbreviations
References

# List of tables

Table 1. Optical enzyme-based biosensors. N/G: Not given	22
Table 2. Electrochemical enzyme-based biosensors. N/G: Not given	24

# List of figures

rigure 1. Schemate representation of the main methods of minioomzation
Figure 2. Schematic diagram of the tyrosinase-based biosensor
Figure 3. Schematic presentation of the nanobiosensor mechanism for the detection of
paraoxon

### Introduction

#### Pesticides

Pesticides are chemical compounds used widely in agriculture to control, destroy or kill weeds, bacteria, insects, fungi, rodents, and other pests (1–6). However, most pesticide usage entails hazardous consequences for living organisms. In fact, it is a major concern in environmental chemistry the presence of pesticides in the food, water and soil (4,7). Pesticide residues affect ecosystems due to the bioaccumulation and long-term effects in both animals and humans (2–4). The exposure to pesticides leads to several health disorders such as skin rashes, infertility, cancer, respiratory and neurological diseases (1,2,8,9).

Pesticides are the leading method of poisoning in the developing world (6,10,11). In 2018, it was estimated that annually there were around 1-5 million cases of pesticide poisoning among agricultural workers (3,6,12,13). From these cases, 20,000 people die from poisoned food consumption only (6,14). Besides, there are numerous cases of developing both chronic and acute illnesses due to prolonged exposure to pesticides (5,15). The International Agency for Cancer Research (IARC) has studied a wide range of fungicides, herbicides, insecticides and other similar chemicals to conclude the presence of carcinogenic compounds in various pesticides (10). Some of the chemicals associated with cancer have been lindane, insecticide used for plague control; methoxychlor, an organochloride insecticide used to protect crops, and phenoxy acid herbicides (10,16).

Another concern of the negative role of pesticide is the induction of congenital malformations and the genotoxic potential. Experimental data revealed the presence of different agrochemical ingredients with mutagenic properties in the pesticides. This could lead to gene mutation, DNA damage, reduced fertility and chromosomal alterations (10,17). Nevertheless, the genotoxic potential, showed in the experiment for agrochemical ingredients, was generally low (10). Furthermore, it must be considered that the exposures to pesticides are to mixtures of these ingredients. So, the genotoxic potential of a single compound will not have the same effect in humans.

## **Problem Statement**

The agricultural industry in Ecuador is the highest non-petroleum grossing industry. Agriculture is a fundamental pillar of the Ecuadorian economy. Ecuador is the world leader in banana production. In 2019, it exported almost 25% of the bananas in the world, just followed by Europe with a 20%. Similarly, it is one of the largest cocoa producers in the world. In 2014, Ecuador registered a total production of 240 thousand tons of cocoa. In addition, Ecuador is the third-largest exporter in cut flower industry in the world.

Nowadays, pest and disease control in crops plays a big role in the maintenance of both quality and quantity of the agricultural industry. This along with a demanding industry, produce a pesticide dependence with the potential of becoming a main concern in public health, for the farmers and the consumers. Therefore, there is an urgent necessity to measure the levels of pesticides. Biosensors permit the detection of any analyte using a biological element in a cost-effective manner. Enzyme-based biosensors have been used for pesticide detection because it is a low cost, high sensitivity method with simple portable design. This thesis will be a review of enzyme-based biosensors and their possible application to the Ecuadorian agricultural industry.

## Objectives

- To search in the literature for enzymes that have been used in biosensor development
- To determine the main characteristics that affect the performance of a biosensor
- To find a suitable biosensor for the Ecuadorian agricultural industry

## Types of pesticides

Pesticides can be classified according to the targeted pest or based on their chemical compounds. Pesticides based on the target organism are acaricides, algaecides, avicides, bactericides, fungicides, herbicides, insecticides, molluscicides, nematicides, rodenticides, slimicides, virucides and weedicides (3,8,18,19). However, as a result of the interest to the biosensor performance, this thesis will mainly focus on the classification based on the chemical constituents of the pesticide. Pesticides classified by their chemical structures are organochlorine, organophosphate, carbamate, inorganic pesticides and synthetic pyrethroids (2,3,18).

Organochlorine pesticides are highly polluting to the environment and human health. Some of the traits of organochlorine pesticides are their toxicity on nontarget organisms and their tendency of bioaccumulation (20,21). Their method of operation is to interfere in the sodium/potassium balance of the target's nerve fiber; therefore, the nerve will constantly be excited. Among the most used pesticides are the Lindane, Aldrin or dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) (3,21). Nowadays, the use of these pesticides has been significantly reduced in most of the developed countries, and have been largely replaced by more effective organophosphates and carbamates (22).

Organophosphorus pesticides impose fewer toxicological effects than organochlorine pesticides, so they were considered harmless in comparison. Nonetheless, after years of overuse, the bioaccumulation exerted alarming toxicological effects on nontarget organisms, reaching an annual estimation of 3 million poisoning and 200,000 deaths (3,23). Organophosphate operate by blocking the activity of enzyme acetylcholinesterase, this will permit acetylcholine to transfer nonstop impulses, affecting the nerves and producing paralysis on the targeted pest (21,24). Similar to organophosphorus pesticides, carbamate inhibits the acetylcholinesterase. Yet, the toxicological potential of carbamates is less significant than the organophosphates (3). Temik, Furadan and Sevin are examples of commercial carbamates, while some commonly used organophosphates includes parathion, malathion or fenitrothion (25–28).

## Pesticide detection

There is an imperative need for establishing low levels of pesticides in the food. It is necessary to have means of pesticide detection in food and environmental samples. Early methods for pesticide analysis relied on conventional techniques such as liquid chromatography, gas chromatography, ELISA, high-performance liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry detection (3,29,30). These methods offer reliability and sensibility, but they are not appropriate for on-field detection. Not to mention that are time consuming, need expensive equipment and trained technicians (2,31,32). For instance, when using spectrophotometric methods with complex color reactions, the tests tend to last longer and the matrix interfere with the results. Besides, there are some pesticides that get decomposed when are subjected at injection head temperatures of chromatographic techniques (31). Therefore, current investigations focus their research

towards biosensor development. Nowadays, the application of biosensors has been directed towards the food industry, health care and environmental practices (33,34).

#### Biosensors

A biosensor is a device that uses an immobilized biological element that will sense the presence of an analyte, connected to a transducer that converts the chemical signal to a measurable electrical signal (35). Aside from the lower cost in comparison to conventional techniques, biosensors exhibit high specificity, high sensitivity, portability, user-friendly operation, compact size and the ability to perform real time analysis (31,36,37). Their biological base allows a qualitative toxicological measurement rather than just a quantitative obtained by the conventional methods. In the last decade, there has been serious improvement in biosensor fabrication by utilizing diverse biosensing elements or developing different methods of immobilization for the biological element (1,38,39). Among the innovations applied in biosensors are the use of nanotechnology and immune sensors, which use antibodies to detect the signal, similar as immunoassays (40).

Biosensors can be classified by their signal transduction technique or by the bio recognition element used for the pesticide detection. According to the technique used for the signal transduction, biosensors can be electrochemical, mechanical, optical or piezoelectrical (41). Most biosensors use electrochemical transducer, which permit the development of simple design, small size, low cost, portable biosensors that have high sensitivity (1,42–45). Alternatively, the biorecognition elements used for the biosensor could be antibodies, aptamers, DNA sequences, enzymes, and fragments of microorganisms or whole cells (1). This thesis will focus on the biosensors with enzymes used as biorecognition element.

The electrochemical detection system, which is the most used, could be potentiometric, amperometric or conductometric. Potentiometric systems rely on in the variation of the potential with its corresponding current change due to the reduction and oxidation of the electrochemical reaction (46). Amperometric detection is based on the current change produce by the variations in the chemical concentration (47,48). Conductometric measurements depend on the conductivity and resistivity of the analyte. So, it is affected by the number of ions, pH, and temperature. The optical techniques rather than directly measuring electrons, uses the photons produced for electrical transduction. Some of the most important parameters in photometric measurements are intensity, absorption, reflectance, quenching, decaying time and radiant energy transfer (49).

Advancements in this technology are made mainly by improving the biological components and implementing novel microsystems technologies. Due to its high chemical specificity and the biocatalytic signal amplification property, enzymes are among the most selected option as biosensing element of the pesticide biosensor (4). In enzyme-based biosensors, the transducer will receive a signal from the enzyme, proportional to the concentration of the target analyte. This signal may result from any reaction catalyzed by the enzyme such as light emission, heat emission, change in the pH, absorption or reflectance. Then, the transducer will convert the signal to a quantifiable reaction, such as current, potential or even an optical signal (50). The converted signal can be amplified, processed or stored afterwards.

In biosensors technology development, the biosensing element requires to be immobilized with the transducer interface. A proper immobilization will assure the interaction between the biorecognition material and the transducer; hence, the quality of the biosensor (51). *Figure 1* shows the most used methods for immobilization are physical adsorption at a solid plane, cross-linkage between molecules, covalent attachment to a surface, affinity-based linkage and the entrapment in a membrane system (3,52).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the main methods of immobilization

## Enzyme based biosensors

Enzymes are natural catalyzers of reactions occurring within an organism that are inhibited or catalyzed depending the metabolic situation. Enzymatic biosensors are fabricated based on these two principles. The biosensor could measure the inhibition of an enzyme, in which the pesticide will work as an inhibitor, or measure the resulting compound of the catalytic reaction, in which the pesticide will be the substrate.

#### **Inhibition-based Biosensors**

#### Cholinesterase-Based Biosensors

Inhibition-based biosensors are the most common method used for enzyme biosensor development. They are mainly based on the use of the enzyme cholinesterase (ChE) which are acetylcholinesterase (AChE), primarily found in red blood cell membranes, and butyrylcholinesterase (BChE), primarily found in blood plasma (4,53,54). ChE enzyme have several inhibitors such as heavy metals, nicotine or fluoride although the main inhibitors relevant to biosensors are organophosphate pesticides and carbamate insecticides (37,55,56). In fact, the most developed organophosphorus detectors have been AChE biosensors. AChE is a natural ChE enzyme that have three amino acids at its active site: aspartic acid, histidine and serine (57). The quaternary ammonium group of AChE is attracted to the binding site, so the hydroxyl group of the serine deprotonate and hydrolyzes the compound (57,58). In the case of organophosphorus pesticides, the nucleophilic serine covalently binds to the phosphorus atom of the organophosphate. This binding is responsible of blocking the serine and inactivating the enzyme (59).

Equation 1 shows the AChE enzyme hydrolyzing acetyl esters and forms choline and acetic acid, while butyrylcholinesterase forms butyric acid, as shown in Equation 2.

$$Acetylcholine + H_2 0 \xrightarrow{AChE} Choline + Acetic acid (1)$$
$$Butyrylcholine + H_2 0 \xrightarrow{BChE} Choline + Butyric acid (2)$$

The acid formation produces a variation in the pH that can be measured using electrochemical methods, pH sensitive fluorescence indicators or pH sensitive spectrophotometric indicators (60–62). Other approach is to use artificial substitutes for AChE and BChE are acetylthiocholine and butyrylthiocholine, respectively, which produces electroactive thiocholine rather than natural choline that is not electrochemically active (1). In general, thiocholine oxidation occur when a voltage is applied and could be measured. If there is an inhibitor, the conversion of the acetylthiocholine is reduced, thus

the electrochemical reaction also decreases (63). Moreover, the anodic oxidation current will decrease in presence of pesticides in samples.

There have been reports of cholinesterase enzyme isolation from several organisms since 1950s, and usage in biosensors since 1980s (3,64). Since then, there have been constant improvements, applying diverse detection methods, immobilization techniques or biosensor configuration. An important drawback of ChE biosensor is that the enzyme is affected by other compounds that are not pesticides, such as heavy metals, nicotine or fluoride. Therefore, biosensors will not have high selectivity. Among the alternatives, to compensate the lack of selectivity, are the development of genetically modified AChE enzyme that outperform the natural enzyme in terms of enzymatic activity, stability and sensitivity of organophosphorus compounds (3). Different kind of transducers have been also tested, mostly electrode-based transducer, as amperometric or potentiometric transducers (41). Amperometric transducers measures and analyzes the byproducts of the oxidation of choline produced when the enzyme hydrolyses the acetylcholine (47,48). Whereas, potentiometric transducer measures the variation of the pH to determine the concentration of pesticide in the sample (46,65). Optical transducers, even if less used, remain as an alternative for construction of AChE based biosensors. Another approach for biosensor development is combining cholinesterase with choline oxidase (ChOx) in a bi-enzymatic biosensor (66). Acetylcholinesterase will convert acetylcholine into choline. The role of the ChOx is to produce  $H_2O_2$  in the presence of choline, which can be oxidized and measured. When AChE is inhibited, ChOx will be inhibited as a consequence of the absence of choline production. Meng et al. developed a bi-enzymatic optical biosensor using both AChE and ChOx as biological receptor with CdTe quantum dots as fluorescent probes for optical transduction. The authors take advantage of the fluorescence quenching of the quantum dots in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to develop a biosensor that will diminish the quenching rate when there are increasing amounts of organophosphates. In the experiment, they used paraoxon, dichlorvos and parathion, reporting the limit of detection of dichlorvos at 4.49 nM.

#### Peroxidase-Based Biosensors

Peroxidase is another enzyme opted for the construction of enzyme-based biosensors. Peroxidases are present in various biological processes and their main function is the catalysis of the oxidation of both organic and inorganic substrates, using the oxidative property of the peroxides (67). Due to the fact that peroxidases are a large group of enzymes, there have been various approaches for the biosensor development. For the application in the biosensor, the substrate used to obtain the base signal are quinones. Once the base signal is determined, the inhibitor effect of the pesticide will decrease the current response indirectly proportional to the pesticide concentration.

Moccelini et al. described a peroxidase-based biosensor that detects thiodicarb, which is a carbamate pesticide (68). The researchers extracted the peroxidase enzyme from alfalfa sprout and used hydroquinone to obtain the base signal. The enzyme was immobilized on a gold electrode in self assembled monolayers. It was reported that the biosensor limit of detection was 57.5  $\mu$ M and the results obtained were similar at a 95% confident level to the results of the high-performance liquid chromatography procedure. Another method implemented for a peroxidase-based biosensor was presented in the work of Oliveira, where they extracted the peroxidase from the atemoya and immobilized it on a modified nanoclay and mineral oil (69). As in the previous example, hydroquinone was used as the substrate to obtain the base signal. Yet, this biosensor was tested with spiked water samples and reported a detection limit of 0.17 nM in glyphosate. As a final note, in order to develop a peroxidase-based biosensor, it has to be considered that peroxidase is not only inhibited by carbamate and glyphosate, but also by sulfides or heavy metals.

#### Tyrosinase-Based Biosensors

Tyrosinase enzyme is an oxidase responsible for the control of melanin production. It is a copper-containing enzyme found in many bacteria species and in plant and animal tissues as well. As shown in equation 3 and 4, tyrosinase is involved in two consecutive melanin synthesis reactions. First, it catalyzes the hydroxylation of a monophenol to a o-diphenol.

$$Monophenol + O_2 \xrightarrow{Cresolate activity} Catechol (3)$$

Then, the o-diphenol is oxidized to its corresponding o-quinone. The resulting oquinone will eventually form melanin, in animal tissue, or enzymatic browning in fruits.

$$Catechol + O_2 \xleftarrow{Catecholase activity} O quinone (4)$$

Tyrosinases have two different binding sites, a substrate site with affinity for aromatic compounds, and an oxygen site with affinity for metal binding agents. The enzyme main substrates are phenols such as dopamine and tyrosine and it is inhibited by different environmental pollutants, for instance, atrazine, hydrazine, carbamate pesticides and cyanide (70–73).

Kim et al. proposed an electrochemical biosensor to detect 2,4dichlorophenoxyaceticacid (2,4-D), which is a systemic herbicide (73). The investigation focused on developing a biosensor that do not require a substrate to activate nor maintain the activity of the enzyme after immobilization. Rather than using a substrate continuously, they used reduced pyrroloquinoline quinone (PQQ) covalently bound to modified gold nanoparticles, as shown in *figure 2*. The results showed an enhancement in the sensitivity, a maintenance of the tyrosinase activity and a limit of detection of 2.98 x10<sup>-6</sup> nM of 2,4 D.



Figure 2. Schematic diagram of the tyrosinase-based biosensor.

Another tyrosinase-based biosensor was constructed by Tanimoto & Ferreira to determine the concentration of carbamates and organophosphorus pesticides in river water samples (70). The tyrosinase was obtained from mushrooms and it was immobilized to a composite electrode by cross-linking with glutaraldehyde and bovine serum albumin. Catechol was used as the substrate and the electrochemical reduction of the formed o-quinone was the measurement to determine the pesticides inhibitory effects. This research measured the inhibition effects of methyl parathion, diazinon, carbaryl and carbofuran and the results determined that methyl parathion and carbofuran act as competitive inhibitor, whilst diazinon and carbaryl act as mixed inhibitors. The main issue with tyrosinase biosensors is their poor specificity due to the interference of the various substrates and inhibitors. Furthermore, the enzyme tends to be unstable, so it reduces tyrosinase-based biosensors lifetime. Nevertheless, tyrosinase is able to endure high temperatures and the solvents used to dissolve the pesticides.

#### Alkaline Phosphatase-Based Biosensor

Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), also known as basic phosphatase, is responsible of the dephosphorylation of organic and inorganic compounds and performs optimally at alkaline pH levels. In equation 5, there is the phosphate and alcohol product of the dephosphorylation of a monoester.

### *Phosphate monoester* + $H_2O \rightarrow alcohol + phosphate$ (5)

ALP has different inhibitors such as organophosphorus pesticides, inorganic salts, or heavy metals. Consequently, the enzyme has been used in the development of biosensors for toxicity screening. ALP is present in both prokaryote and eukaryote organisms and has numerous substrates, which gives the enzyme versatility for its use in biosensor construction.

In 2018, it was published the development of an ALP-based biosensor for the detection of chlorpyrifos (74). The enzyme was extracted from algae and the biosensor functioned using the inhibition of Ap-algae in presence of the insecticide. Normally, AP-algae dephosphorylate the phosphate of 2-phospho-L-ascorbic acid, which is the substrate. The dephosphorylation will release L-ascorbic acid that will be examined with voltammetric methods. In the presence of chlorpyrifos, the enzyme activity will be inhibited, thus the base current will decrease. The biosensor was constructed with ZnO nanoparticles on a glassy carbon electrode. The role of the nanoparticles was to increase the conductivity between the immobilized enzyme and the electrode. Pabbi et al. reported selective chlorpyrifos detection at concentrations up to 10 nM in samples with acephate, malathion, triazophos and some alkali metals, with null interference. This represent a great biosensor in terms of selectivity and reliability.

Another approach for the biosensor construction was made by García et al. (75). They developed a fluorometric alkaline phosphatase-based biosensor for the detection of heavy metals (Ag<sup>+</sup> and CN<sup>-</sup>) and organochlorine (tetradifon), carbamate (methamsodium) and organophosphorus (fenitrothion) pesticides. The enzyme was immobilized through microencapsulation in sol-gel matrices of tetramethyl orthosilicate. The reaction catalyzed by the ALP enzyme was the hydrolysis of 1-naphthyl phosphate into fluorescent 1-napthol, which was inhibited by the pollutants. It was reported that the detection limits of the biosensor were 4.1  $\mu$ M for tetradifon and 91.2  $\mu$ M for metham-sodium.

#### Acid Phosphatase-Based Biosensor

Acid phosphatase (AP) have been also used in biosensors for the detection of pesticides and heavy metals. For instance, the work of Mazzei et al. described a bienzymatic biosensor that coupled AP with glucose oxidase (GOx) for the toxic screening of malathion, methyl parathion and paraoxon (76). The biosensor was developed by physicochemical immobilization of AP with GOx over an amperometric  $H_2O_2$  electrode and the substrate used was glucose-6-phosphate (G6P). AP phosphorylates G6P to produce inorganic phosphate and glucose, as shown in equation 6.

# $Glucose - 6 - phosphate + H_2 0 \xrightarrow{AP} inorganic phosphate + glucose$ (6)

Then, GOx oxidizes glucose into gluconolactone, which will be measured to determine the base signal by amperometric methods (7). The detection limit varied depending the type of pesticide, malathion and paraoxon reported detection limits of 1.5  $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>; while the methyl parathion reported a limit of detection of 0.5  $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>.

$$Glucose + O_2 \xrightarrow{GOx} Gluconolactone + H_2O (7)$$

Other biosensors based on the inhibition of AP enzyme were developed in different studies for the determination of heavy metals levels (77). In their research, acid phosphatase was immobilized with bovine serum albumin and glutaraldehyde to a screen-printed carbon electrode by cross-linking. They used phospho-L-ascorbic acid as the substrate and measured the response using amperometric methods. This response decreased in the presence of As(V), which was the inhibitor. The experiment was performed using ground water samples and it reported detection limits of the As(V) up to  $0.11 \,\mu\text{M}$ .

Tagad et al. also developed a biosensor for heavy metal detection (78). In their study, the describe a portable optical acid phosphatase-based biosensor for  $Hg^{2+}$  detection. AP enzyme was extracted from *Macrotyloma uniflorum* and was immobilized by covalent linkage in glutaraldehyde gelatin. The substrate used was p-nitrophenyl phosphate, which produce p-nitrophenol as a result of the enzymatic reaction. The light intensity transmitted from the reaction was measured in volts and changed in presence of  $Hg^{2+}$ . The response of the sensor was determined between 0.01-10 mM, with a detection limit of 0.01 mM.

#### Laccase-Based Biosensor

Laccases belong to the group of blue copper-containing oxidases and their main function is to catalyze the substrate oxidation and reduce molecular oxygen to water. Laccases are found in plants, fungi, insects and bacteria (79). Oliveira et al. worked in two laccase-based biosensors and in both papers, they extracted laccase from the fungi *Trametes versicolor* (80,81). Laccase was directly immobilized on graphene doped carbon electrode with Prussian blue film electrodeposited on it. The role of the Prussian blue was to reduce the resistance and the capacitance of the enzyme biosensor. The substrate used was 4-aminophenol and it was monitored by cyclic voltammetry and square-wave voltammetry. The laccase-based biosensor detected carbamate pesticides with a detection limit range from  $5.2 \times 10^{-3}$  µM to 0.1 µM. Another laccase-based biosensor, developed by the same research group, had the enzyme immobilized in a multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNT) electrode. They used the same substrate as before, 4-aminophenol, and also detected the inhibition produced by the primicarb with squarevoltammetry. This biosensor detected the primicarb in a range from 0.99 to 11.5 µM.

Ribeiro et al. developed a laccase-based biosensor for the detection of the insecticide formetanate hydrochloride (FMT) (82). Laccase immobilization was done by cross-linking with glutaraldehyde on a modified gold electrode. The FMT inhibition of the laccase activity happened in the presence of phenolic composites and was determined by square-wave voltammetry. The biosensor was tested in mango and grapes samples with a limit of detection of 95 nM. Another pesticide that have been detected by laccase-based biosensor is catechol. In 2020, Zhang et al. reported a laccase biosensor fabricated using MoS<sub>2</sub> nanosheets and gold nanoparticles (83). MoS<sub>2</sub> have been proved to be biocompatible, while also have abundant position for the laccase immobilization due to its large specific surface area. Gold nanoparticles role was to enhance both the conductivity of MoS<sub>2</sub> and the detection sensitivity of the biosensor. The detection limit of the biosensor was reported to be 2  $\mu$ M of catechol.

### Urease-Based Biosensor

Urease function is to catalyze the hydrolysis reaction of urea to carbon dioxide and ammonia, as equation 8 displays.

$$Urea + H_2 O \xrightarrow{Urease} CO_2 + ammonia (8)$$

Subsequently, the carbamate produced is degraded by hydrolysis to carbonic acid and another molecule of ammonia. Urease is found in bacteria, fungi and plants. It is inhibited by pesticides and heavy metals that have been used to develop urease-based biosensors. In 2013, Braham et al. described the construction of a potentiometric biosensor using urease inhibition as the working principle (84). The enzyme was immobilized by cross-linking with glutaraldehyde, bovine serum albumin and Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> coated nanoparticles to an insulator-semiconductor electrode. The substrate used was urea and the pesticide detected was atrazine molecules. The limit of detection of atrazine was about 0.13  $\mu$ M. In other study, another research group. proposed a potentiometric biosensor for the detection of glyphosate. Unlike the previous model, the enzyme was immobilized on gold nanoparticles and an agarose-guar gum membrane (85). The gold nanoparticles enhance the enzyme activity and the conductivity of the biosensor. The amount of ammonium produced by the catalyzed reaction of the urease enzyme was measured by direct potentiometry, and was reduced in the presence of glyphosate. The detection limit of the glyphosate was 5  $\mu$ M.

#### Aldehyde Dehydrogenase-Based Biosensor

Aldehyde dehydrogenase (AlDH) is responsible to catalyze the oxidation of aldehydes to carboxylic acids with two cofactors: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD<sup>+</sup>) or nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP<sup>+</sup>), as seen in equation 9. The active site of the enzyme binds to an aldehyde substrate and to one of the cofactors, either NAD<sup>+</sup> or NADP<sup>+</sup> to form NADH along with a proton.

$$Aldehyde + NAD^{+} \xrightarrow{AlDH} Acid + NADH + H^{+} (9)$$

Noguer & Marty developed various biosensors for the detection of dithiocarbamate fungicides using the working principle of the AlDH inhibition. AlDH substrate was propionaldehyde, which produced NADH due to the oxidation cause by the enzyme. The pesticide inhibits the current formed by the product of the oxidation reaction and was measured by potentiometry (86–88). They developed several bi-enzymatic electrochemical biosensors that had aldehyde dehydrogenase and diaphorase immobilized to a screen printed electrode using photocrosslinkable poly(vinyl alcohol) bearing styryl pyridinium. Since the beginning, the biosensors reported better sensitivity results compared with conventional methods such as spectrophotometry or chromatography with a detection of 16 nM of dithiocarbamate over the 4.33  $\mu$ M detection of conventional

methods. The limits of the biosensor were further studied with more dithiocarbamate pesticides such as zineb, maneb, metam sodium and nabam, with results that concluded a higher sensitivity in aldehyde dehydrogenase biosensors.

#### **Glutathione S-Transferase-Based Biosensor**

Glutathione S-Transferase (GST), also known as ligandin, is a cytosolic enzyme responsible for the catalysis of glutathione to xenobiotic substrates. It has been reported that among various other inhibitors, GST is specifically inhibited by captan, which is a fungicide (89). Consequently, Choi et al. developed a GST-based optical biosensor to detect captan in water. The enzyme was immobilized in gel film using gel entrapment technique. The biosensor had two substrates, 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzen (CDNB) and glutathione (GSH), which produced s-(2,4-dinitrobenzen) glutathione that emitted a yellow light. In the presence of the captan, there was a decrease of the yellow product that was detected through the absorbance of the product. The study reported that the biosensor was able to detect captan at a concentration of 6.65 µM. Another reported GST inhibitor is molinate, which is a thiocarbamate herbicide (90). Oliveira et al. constructed an electrochemical biosensor to measure molinate concentration in environmental water. GST was immobilized by aminosilane-glutaraldehyde covalent attachment to carbon electrode. The substrate used to determine the standard enzymatic activity were GSH and CDNB in an ethanolic solution. The inhibition produced by molinate in the water was measured by differential pulse voltammetry and the biosensor exhibited a detection limit of 0.35 µM.

Glutathione S-transferase I is an isoenzyme of GST with the characteristic of catalyzing triazine (91). Andreou and Clonis developed a fiber-optic GST-I based biosensor for the detection of atrazine, a triazine herbicide. GST-I was cloned and expressed in *E. choli* model and immobilized on a hydrophilic outer membrane of polyvinylidene fluoride. The middle membrane had a sol-gel with bromocresol green (BCG), which is a dye used as a pH indicator. Since the biosensors used atrazine as a substrate and not to inhibit the enzymatic activity, this a catalytic-based biosensor. The biosensor limit of detection was 0.84  $\mu$ M for atrazine without any interference reported from other pesticides presented in the water samples.

#### **Catalytic-Based Biosensor**

#### Organophosphorus Hydrolase-Based Biosensor

A more direct method for enzyme-based biosensor detection is the development of biosensor based on the activity of the enzyme catalyzing the pesticide. Organophosphorus hydrolase (OPH), also known as phosphotriesterase, is a bacterial enzyme that degrades organophosphorus pesticides. Rather than being inhibited by the pesticide, the pesticide acts as a substrate for OPH. OPH-based biosensors have several advantages over inhibition-based biosensors. It is a rapid, direct method of biosensing, highly selective in comparison, since it mainly catalyzes OP pesticides, and it is suitable for continuous monitoring (3,92). Organophosphorus hydrolase is able to catalyze the hydrolysis of various substrate containing P—O, P—CN, P—F, and P—S bonds, producing an alcohol with two protons in the process (93). Since the alcohol produced is frequently chromophoric and electroactive, the enzyme tends to be connected with an optical transducer to measure the amount of chromophore produced, or with a pH indicator to determine the protons generated in the catalysis (92). Due to the OPH enzymatic activity hydrolyzing organophosphorus pesticides, the enzyme has been studied for its use in bioremediation.

OPH enzyme has nonspecific substrate binding site. Hence, organophosphorus hydrolase enzyme has a vast substrate specificity. OPH catalytic properties will be affected by the environmental factors such as temperature, concentration of the substrate and pH. For instance, a rise in temperature will continuously increase the kinetic energy of the molecules involved in the reaction (49). Therefore, the enzymatic activity will keep increasing until it gets to a threshold. Once the threshold is surpassed, the temperature breaks the hydrophobic bonds that keep the secondary structure of the active site. This will denature the enzyme and result in a loss of the catalytic activity. The optimal conditions of OPH enzyme is 35 °C (94). At this point the enzyme displays it maximum activity.

Lee et al. developed an OPH-based amperometric biosensor to determine the levels of organophosphate nerve agents (95). The biosensor was developed on a mesoporous carbon (MC) and carbon black (CB) platform, which reported better sensitivity to phenolic compounds released from the OPH reaction. Additionally, the MC/CB layer exhibited higher amperometric response in comparison to carbon nanotube electrodes. At the most optimal conditions, the biosensor had a limit of detection of 0.12

 $\mu$ M for paraoxon. Another approach for the detection of paraoxon using OPH enzyme was taken by Khaksarinejad et al. In their work, they constructed an optical biosensor that was developed over a nanomagnet-silica core shell where the enzyme was immobilized. They used coumarin 1, which not only is a competitive inhibitor of the OPH, but also is fluorescence emitter (96). As shown in *figure 3*, Coumarin 1 was collocated at the enzyme's active site and emitted intense radiation when excited. As coumarin 1 is a competitive inhibitor, in the presence of paraoxon the emitted radiation significantly reduced. The concentration of the organophosphate in the sample was proportional to the reduction of the fluorescence. The detection limit of the biosensor was  $5x10^{-6} \mu$ M for paraoxon.



Figure 3. Schematic presentation of the nanobiosensor mechanism for the detection of paraoxon.

#### Methyl parathion hydrolase-based biosensors

Methyl parathion hydrolase (MPH) is an aryldialkyl phosphatase part of the organophosphorus hydrolase family (49). It catalyzes the specific oxidation of methyl parathion, which is an organophosphate insecticide used in agriculture. Due to MPH high selectivity toward methyl parathion, Chen et al. fabricated an electrochemical MPH based nanocomposite biosensor (97). The enzyme was immobilized over a nanocomposite film of gold nanoparticles on silica with MWCNT. The nanocomposites allowed a high specific surface area in the sensing film and a higher conductivity as well. The response was measured using square wave voltammetry and the detection limit reported was 1.13x10<sup>-3</sup> nM for methyl parathion. Another MPH-based biosensor was designed using AuNP electrodes (98). The electrode was developed by mixing AuNP with aryldiazonium salt to enhance the electron transfer efficiency between the enzyme and the electrode. The electrode was also modified with PEG molecules to avoid non-specific adsorption and with 4-carboxyphenyl to maximize the AuNP role as electronic bridge. The enzyme was

covalently immobilized to the electrode and the methyl parathion detection was measured when 4-nitrophenol was produced as the product of the hydrolysis of the methyl parathion using amperometry. The detection limit for the pesticide reported was 0.27 nM, which is a very low value. Nevertheless, the main advantage of using MPH in a biosensor is the high selectivity and specificity in the detection of methyl parathion in a sample.

## Discussion

There are several enzymes used for biosensor development. Since the pesticide components are toxic and biohazardous, their interaction with an enzyme is frequently disruptive and inhibitory, with some few exceptions. Most biosensors use this inhibition mechanism as the working principle to the development of the device. Basically, the process to determine the pesticide level is to get a main signal with an enzyme-substrate complex, then measure the reduction of that signal due to the presence of the inhibitor, and match it with the concentration of the pesticide. The main signal is obtained from the enzyme catalyzing the substrate reaction at the most optimal conditions. Temperature, pH, and level of substrate are factors that affect the enzyme performance. Nevertheless, in terms of biosensor development, the immobilization technique used, the type of transducer and the electrode configuration are decisive to determine the efficiency of a biosensor.

Paraoxon, for instance, have three reported optical biosensors using the same OPH enzyme as the biosensing agent with three very different detection limits, as shown in Table 1. Simonian et al. described a biosensor developed using OPH isolated from an *E. coli* strain and immobilize it by covalently linkage to nanogold in configuration of OPH/mono-sulfo-NHS-nanogold conjugate. Then, the conjugate was incubated with a fluorescent inhibitor used as a decoy and measured with UV-vis spectrum. The limit of detection was  $20x10^{-6}$  M, which is not the best result for an OPH-based biosensor. Yet, this type of detection has some interesting characteristics. Since the optical signal results from the competitiveness between the OP compound and the decoy, the detection will not be affected by the OPH ability to hydrolyze the pesticide. Instead, it will depend on the affinity between the decoy and the enzyme active site. In order to have a better performance of the biosensor, the decoy should have high affinity to the OPH. A high affinity will increase the linear range because more substrate will be needed to displace it from the active site. On the other hand, if the decoy has low affinity, it could be easily

displaced by a non-desired molecule diminishing the biosensor selectivity. Overall, it was a solid biosensor that could be improved with decoy modifications.

Enzyme	Target	Transducer	Biosensor configuration	Linear range [M]	LOD [M]	Reference
ОРН	Paraoxon	Optical	OPH/mono-sulfo-NHS– nanogold	2.0x10 <sup>-5</sup> - 2.4x10 <sup>-4</sup>	2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	(99)
ALP	Paraoxon	Optical	B-PUHT	N/G	4.4x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(100)
AChE	Parathion	Optical	PCCA	N/G	4.3x10 <sup>-15</sup>	(9)
AChE/ChOx	Parathion Dichlorvos Parathion	Optical	PAH/CdTe PAH/PSS PAH/ChOx/AChE	10-12-10-6	2.8x10 <sup>-12</sup> 2.1x10 <sup>-12</sup> 4.8x10 <sup>-12</sup>	(101)
GST-I	Atrazine	Optical	Glass/sol-gel indicator/Durapore membrane	2.5x10 <sup>-6</sup> -1.3x10 <sup>-4</sup>	0.8x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(91)
GST	Captan	Optical	GST/gel film	0-6.7x10 <sup>-6</sup>	N/G	(89)
ОРН	Paraoxon	Optical	Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> - SiO <sub>2</sub> /APTES/GTA/OPH	5.0x10 <sup>-12</sup> -2.5x10 <sup>-7</sup>	5.0x10 <sup>-12</sup>	(96)
ChE	Carbaryl Dichlorvos	Optical	glass/sol-gel- indicator/Durapore	5.5x10 <sup>-7</sup> -4.0x10 <sup>-5</sup> 2.3x10 <sup>-8</sup> -1.4x10 <sup>-7</sup>	5.4x10 <sup>-7</sup> 2.4x10 <sup>-8</sup>	(61)
AChE	Dichlorvos	Optical	TEOS/sol-gel/AChE	2.3x10 <sup>-6</sup> -3.2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	2.3x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(62)
AChE/CHOx	Dichlorvos	Optical	CdTe QDs	4.5x 10 <sup>-9</sup> -6.8x10 <sup>-6</sup>	4.5x10 <sup>-9</sup>	(66)
ALP	Tetradifon Metham-sodium	Optical	1-naphthyl- phosphate/ALP	3.5 x10 <sup>-6</sup> -2.8x10 <sup>-5</sup> 1.9 x10 <sup>-4</sup> -7.7x10 <sup>-4</sup>	4.9x10 <sup>-6</sup> 2.9x10 <sup>-4</sup>	(75)
AP	$Hg^{2+}$	Optical	AP/PDMS	$0.01 \times 10^{-3} - 10 \times 10^{-3}$	0.01x10 <sup>-3</sup>	(78)
AIDH	Zineb Paraoxon	Optical	AlDH/PVA-SbQ	N/G	3.3x10 <sup>-8</sup> 1.8x10 <sup>-9</sup>	(87)
ОРН	Paraoxon	Optical	OPH-(7-isothiocyanato- 4-methylcoumarin)	10 <sup>-9</sup> -10 <sup>-5</sup>	10-9	(93)

Table 1. Optical enzyme-based biosensors. N/G: Not given.

Orbulescu et al. biosensor had the enzyme immobilized with a different configuration. The configuration was a covalent immobilization of OPH-coumarin to silanized quartz slides. Coumarin is an UV-excitable fluorophore that emits in a similar range of the p-nitrophenol absorbance, ~430 nm and ~400nm respectively, which is able to quench the coumarin emission. In a sample with paraoxon, the OPH will hydrolyze and form p-nitrophenol. Since OPH was labeled with coumarin, paraoxon hydrolysis results in less emission monitored by UV-vis and fluorescence spectroscopy. The results showed a detection limit of  $5x10^{-9}$  M using fluorescence spectroscopy, which is much lower than the Simonian biosensor. This biosensor had a more direct approach to detect paraoxon concentration. Rather than relying in the affinity of the fluorophore with the enzyme, Orbulescu et al. depended on the amount of p-nitrophenol produced after the hydrolysis and measured the quenching of the fluorophore. The advantage of this method is that the fluorophore can be selected only by its spectroscopic properties, while Simonian method needs a fluorophore that not only have great spectroscopic properties, but also high affinity to OPH.

The third biosensor was constructed by Khaksarinejad team. The biosensor had a similar working principle as Orbulescu., but a different configuration. Khaksarinejad et al. immobilized the enzyme on a nanomagnet-silica core shell that intensified the emission of the Coumarin. The  $F_3O_4$  NPs also improved the OPH enzymatic activity and, along the intensification of the emission, enhanced significantly the functionality of the biosensor. The limit of detection was in order of  $10^{-12}$  M paraoxon, which is incredibly low. This biosensor has great sensitivity, but if the intensity of the fluorochrome increase, a lower detection limit could be achieved. In comparison, Khaksarinejad biosensor showed the highest sensitivity and the lowest detection limit of the OPH-based optical biosensors.

In Ecuador, the main exported non-petroleum product is banana, which is from the musaceae family and affected by various diseases. Arguably, the most lethal disease in banana plantations is black sigatoka. Black sigatoka is a fungus that attack the foliar tissue disrupting photosynthesis and the plant growth. Chemical treatment for this disease is the use of chlorothalonil with glyphosate, which is a herbicide, over the death leaves of the affected plant to stop sporulation to other plants. As shown in Table 2, Glyphosate is an inhibitor of some enzymes that have been used in biosensor construction. G.C Oliveira et al. developed a simple peroxidase-based biosensor suitable for the detection of glyphosate in Ecuador. The enzyme was immobilized on a carbon paste electrode and hand mixed with MWCNT and graphite powder for 15 minutes. The mixture was then packed in a plastic syringe with a copper wire connected to establish contact. The biosensor was inhibition based, so it determined a base signal with a substrate and then measured the decrease of the current response in the presence of the glyphosate. It was reported a limit of detection of 1.8x10<sup>-7</sup> M, in a range of 5.9x10<sup>-7</sup> to 2.7x10<sup>-5</sup> M using square wave voltammetry. The study also report that the biosensor maintains its electrochemical properties for a period of eight weeks. This biosensor has a simple construction, low-cost, shows stability for a period of 8 weeks, while also have a low detection limit and monitor glyphosate in a water sample without significant interference. It is a portable biosensor with high sensitivity that could be easily used in the biggest industry of Ecuador, suitable for medium and big producers to assure non-hazardous condition for the inhabitants and themselves.

Enzyme	Target	Transducer	<b>Biosensor</b> configuration	Linear range [M]	LOD [M]	Reference
MPH	Methyl parathion	Amperometric	AuNP/GC	7.6x10 <sup>-10</sup> -3.8x10 <sup>-7</sup>	2.7x10 <sup>-10</sup>	(98)
MPH	Methyl parathion	Voltammetric	MPH/SP@AuNPs MWCNTs/GCE	3.8x10 <sup>-9</sup> -1.9x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.1x10 <sup>-9</sup>	(97)
GST	Molinate	Voltammetric	GCE/APTES/GA/GST	1.0x10 <sup>-6</sup> -4.2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	3.42x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(90)
GST	Captan	Voltammetric	SAM modified gold/GST	8.3x10 <sup>-7</sup> -5.3x10 <sup>-5</sup>	8.3x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(102)
OPH	Paraoxon	Amperometric	MC/CB/GC/CNT/OPH	2.0x10 <sup>-6</sup> -8.0x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.1x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(95)
AChE B	Pirimiphos methyl Omethoate Paraoxon	Voltammetric	AChE B screen-printed electrode	N/G	3.5x10 <sup>-12</sup> 1.2x10 <sup>-7</sup> 1.8 x10 <sup>-9</sup>	(37)
AChE	Chlorpyrifos-ethyl- oxon	Amperometric	Ag/AgCL/PVA- SbQ/AChE	N/G	3.0x10 <sup>-9</sup>	(56)
AChE	Diazinon Carbofuran	Voltammetric	Au/MBT/POMA- PSSA/AChE	N/G	2.3x10 <sup>-10</sup> 2.7x10 <sup>-10</sup>	(58)
AChE	Organophosphates	Potentiometric	PVC/plasma- polymerized ethylenediamine	10-6-10-1	2.0x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(60)
Peroxidase	Glyphosate	Voltammetric	Graphite MWCNT/peroxidase	5.9x10 <sup>-7</sup> -2.7x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.8x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(69)
Peroxidase	Thiodicarb	Voltammetric	Au/peroxidase/SAMs	2.3x10 <sup>-6</sup> -4.4x10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.8x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(68)
Tyrosinase	Methyl parathion Diazinon Carbofuran Carbaryl	Amperometric	SP CoPc-CGCE	2.3x10 <sup>-8</sup> -3.8x10 <sup>-7</sup> 6.2x10 <sup>-8</sup> -1.6x10 <sup>-7</sup> 2.3x10 <sup>-8</sup> -4.1x10 <sup>-7</sup> 5.0x10 <sup>-8</sup> -2.5x10 <sup>-7</sup>	2.3x10 <sup>-8</sup> 6.2x10 <sup>-8</sup> 2.3x10 <sup>-8</sup> 5.0x10 <sup>-8</sup>	(70)
Tyrosinase	Dichlorvos	Voltammetric	GC-NQS-Tyr-PPy	6.0x10 <sup>-8</sup> -8.0x10 <sup>-6</sup>	6.0x10 <sup>-8</sup>	(71)
Tyrosinase	2,4-D	Amperometric	PQQ-Tyr/AuNP-GC	3x10 <sup>-15</sup> -4.5x10 <sup>-14</sup>	3.0x10 <sup>-15</sup>	(73)
PPO	Thiodicarb	Voltammetric	Graphite powder: Nujol: CHcych-PPO	3.8x10 <sup>-7</sup> -2.2x10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.6x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(72)
ALP	Chlorpyrifos	Voltammetric	ALP-algae/ZnO/GC	10 <sup>-9</sup> -10 <sup>-1</sup>	10-9	(74)
AP/GOx	Aldicarb	Amperometric	GOx: potato tissue/AP	2.4x10 <sup>-7</sup> -6.6x10 <sup>-7</sup>	2.1x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(76)
Laccase	Ziram Carbofuran	Voltammetric	LACC/PB/GPE	2.5x10 <sup>-8</sup> -5.7x10 <sup>-7</sup> 5.0x10 <sup>-7</sup> -5.9x10 <sup>-6</sup>	5.2x10 <sup>-9</sup> 1x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(80)
Laccase	Primicarb	Voltammetric	MWCPE electrode	9.9x10 <sup>-7</sup> -1.2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.8x10 <sup>-7</sup>	(81)
Laccase	Catechol	Voltammetric	MoS2-AuNPs-Lac/GCE	2x10 <sup>-6</sup> -2.0x10 <sup>-3</sup>	2x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(83)
Urease	Atrazin	Potentiometric	IS/NPs- (PAH/PSS) <sub>3</sub> /PAH/urease	10-2-10-7	0.1x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(84)
Urease	Glyphosate	Potentiometric	Au NP/agarose-guar gum entrapped urease	3.0x10 <sup>-6</sup> -3.0x10 <sup>-4</sup>	3.0x10 <sup>-6</sup>	(85)

Table 2. Electrochemical enzyme-based biosensors. N/G: Not given.

## Conclusions

Biosensors pave the way to a controlled environmental monitoring. There are reports of different immobilization techniques, enzymes used as biological elements, configuration of electrodes or transducers. The variety of enzymes allows to design biosensors for broad families of pollutants. Organophosphorus, organochlorides, carbamates, insecticides, fungicides or herbicides, any kind of pesticide can be screen using the right enzyme. Enzyme-based biosensors working principle is to measure the signal through an immobilized enzyme connected to a transducer. Most enzymes are inhibited in the presence of pesticides. Hence, most biosensors depend on inhibitionbased configurations, where the signal is measured at optimal conditions for the enzyme by electrochemical or optical methods and then the signal reduces in the presence of the inhibitor. The development of nanoparticles in enzymatic configuration enhance the biosensor characteristic, since they enable the transfer of electrons from the enzyme to transducer. This property increases sensitivity and response time.

In terms of specificity, there is still room for improvement. AChE-based biosensors or tyrosinase-based biosensors are mainly used for rapid screening because the huge number of inhibitors for each enzyme. This could be solved with new immobilization techniques or configurations. Regarding its use in environmental field, biosensors are mostly experimental and quite few, compared to fields like medicine. In Ecuador, due to its high agricultural development, pesticide screening is a needed tool to ensure a safe environment for the inhabitants and the farmers. It is both a challenge and an opportunity to develop and commercialize enzyme-based biosensors in Ecuador.

## Abbreviations

- IARC: International Agency for Cancer Research
- DDT: Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
- ChE: Cholinesterase
- AChE: Acetylcholinesterase
- BChE: Butyrylcholinesterase
- ChOx: Choline Oxidase
- Tyr: Tyrosinase
- 2,4-D: 2,4-dichlorophenoxyaceticacid
- PQQ: Pyrroloquinoline quinone
- ALP: Alkaline phosphatase
- AP: Acid phosphatase
- GOx: Glucose oxidase
- G6P: Glucose-6-phosphate
- MWCNT: Multi-walled carbon nanotubes
- FMT: Formetanate hydrochloride
- AIDH: Aldehyde dehydrogenase
- NAD<sup>+</sup>: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- NADP<sup>+</sup>: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- GST: Glutathione S-Transferase
- CDNB: 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzen
- GSH: Glutathione
- BCG: Bromocresol green
- OPH: Organophosphorus hydrolase
- MC: mesoporous carbon
- CB: carbon black
- MPH: Methyl parathion hydrolase

## References

- 1. Sassolas A, Prieto-Simón B, Marty J-L. Biosensors for Pesticide Detection: New Trends. Am J Anal Chem. 2012;03(03):210–32.
- 2. Liu S, Zheng Z, Li X. Advances in pesticide biosensors: Current status, challenges, and future perspectives. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2013;405(1):63–90.
- 3. Verma N, Bhardwaj A. Biosensor Technology for Pesticides—A review. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2015;175(6):3093–119.
- 4. Pundir CS, Chauhan N. Acetylcholinesterase inhibition-based biosensors for pesticide determination: A review. Anal Biochem [Internet]. 2012;429(1):19–31. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2012.06.025
- 5. Abdollahi M, Ranjbar A, Shadnia S, Nikfar S, Rezaie A. Pesticides and oxidative stress: A review. Med Sci Monit. 2004;10(6):141–8.
- 6. A AK. Epidemiology of Pesticides in Developing Countries. Adv Clin Toxicol. 2018;3(1):1–8.
- 7. Aspelin A. Pesticides Industry Sales and Usage. Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency; 1994. 29 p.
- Tankiewicz M, Fenik J, Biziuk M. Determination of organophosphorus and organonitrogen pesticides in water samples. TrAC - Trends Anal Chem [Internet]. 2010;29(9):1050–63. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2010.05.008
- 9. Walker JP, Asher SA. Acetylcholinesterase-Based Organophosphate Nerve Agent Sensing Photonic Crystal. Anal Chem. 2005;77(6):1596–600.
- 10. Bolognesi C. Genotoxicity of pesticides: A review of human biomonitoring studies. Mutat Res Rev Mutat Res. 2003;543(3):251–72.
- Eddleston M, Karalliedde L, Buckley N, Fernando R, Hutchinson G, Isbister G, et al. Pesticide poisoning in the developing world - A minimum pesticides list. Lancet. 2002;360(9340):1163–7.
- 12. WHO. Chemicals of Public Health Concern. 2014. 43 p.
- 13. Sogorb MA, Vilanova E, Carrera V. Future applications of phosphotriesterases in the prophylaxis and treatment of organophosporus insecticide and nerve agent poisonings. Toxicol Lett. 2004;151(1):219–33.
- 14. Bhardwaj T, Sharma JP. Impact of Pesticides Application in Agricultural Industry: An Indian Scenario. Int J Agric Food Sci Technol. 2013;4(8):817–22.
- 15. Abdollahi M, Jalali N, Sabzevari O, Hoseini R, Ghanea T. A retrospective study of poisoning in Tehran. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol. 1997;35(4):387–93.
- 16. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Iarc Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks To Humans [Internet]. Vol. 82, IARC Press. 2002. 590 p. Available from: http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol83/mono83-1.pdf
- Dearfield KL, McCarroll NE, Protzel A, Ioannou Y, Frank Stack H, Jackson MA, et al. A survey of EPA/OPP and open literature on selected pesticide chemicals -III. Mutagenicity and carcinogenicity of selected chloroacetanilides and related compounds. Mutat Res. 1999;443(1):183–221.

- 18. Gavrilescu M. Fate of pesticides in the environment and its bioremediation. Eng Life Sci. 2005;5(6):497–526.
- 19. Odukkathil G, Vasudevan N. Toxicity and bioremediation of pesticides in agricultural soil. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol. 2013;12(4):421–44.
- 20. Poon BHT, Leung CKM, Wong CKC, Wong MH. Polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in human adipose tissue and breast milk collected in Hong Kong. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 2005;49(2):274–82.
- Michael. A. Kamrin. Pesticides Profile (Toxicity, Environmental Impact, and Fate) [Internet]. 1st ed. Resticides Profiles (Toxicity, Environmental Impact and Fate. New York: CRC Press LLC; 1997. 704 p. Available from: http://weekly.cnbnews.com/news/article.html?no=124000
- 22. Singh BK, Walker A, Wright DJ. Bioremedial potential of fenamiphos and chlorpyrifos degrading isolates: Influence of different environmental conditions. Soil Biol Biochem. 2006;38(9):2682–93.
- Quesada E, Sogorb MA, Vilanova E, Carrera V. Bovine chromaffin cell cultures as model to study organophosporus neurotoxicity. Toxicol Lett. 2004;151(1):163–70.
- 24. Manahan SE. Environmental Chemistry. 7th ed. Lewis Publishers. New York: CRC Press LLC; 2000.
- 25. Guyton KZ, Loomis D, Grosse Y, El Ghissassi F, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Guha N, et al. Carcinogenicity of tetrachlorvinphos, parathion, malathion, diazinon, and glyphosate. Lancet Oncol [Internet]. 2015;16(5):490–1. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70134-8
- 26. Fukuto TR. Mechanism of action of organophosphorus and carbamate insecticides. Environ Health Perspect. 1990;87:245–54.
- 27. Bonner MR, Coble J, Blair A, Beane Freeman LE, Hoppin JA, Sandler DP, et al. Malathion exposure and the incidence of cancer in the agricultural health study. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;166(9):1023–34.
- 28. Bucur B, Munteanu FD, Marty JL, Vasilescu A. Advances in enzyme-based biosensors for pesticide detection. Biosensors. 2018;8(2):1–28.
- 29. Jaffrezic-Renault N. New trends in biosensors for organophosphorus pesticides. Sensors. 2001;1(2):60–74.
- 30. Grimalt S, Dehouck P. Review of analytical methods for the determination of pesticide residues in grapes. J Chromatogr A. 2016;1433:1–23.
- 31. Velasco-Garcia MN, Mottram T. Biosensor technology addressing agricultural problems. Biosyst Eng. 2003;84(1):1–12.
- 32. Gilliom RJ, Barbash JE, Kolpin DW, Larson SJ. Peer Reviewed: Testing Water Quality for Pesticide Pollution. Environ Sci Technol. 1999;33(7):164A-169A.
- 33. Verma N, Singh M. A disposable microbial based biosensor for quality control in milk. Biosens Bioelectron. 2003;18(10):1219–24.
- 34. Guo Y, Gong Z, Cao Y, Wang X, Sun X. Electrochemical Immunosensor for Pesticide Residues Detection in Food Analysis. 2013;156(9):374–8.
- 35. Rogers KIMR, Gerlach CL. Environmental Biosensors: A Status Report. Environ Sci Technol. 1996;30(11):486–91.

- 36. Amine A, Mohammadi H, Bourais I, Palleschi G. Enzyme inhibition-based biosensors for food safety and environmental monitoring. Biosens Bioelectron. 2006;21(8):1405–23.
- 37. Schulze H, Muench SB, Villatte F, Schmid RD, Bachmann TT. Insecticide detection through protein engineering of Nippostrongylus brasiliensis acetylcholinesterase B. Anal Chem. 2005;77(18):5823–30.
- 38. Periasamy AP, Umasankar Y, Chen SM. Nanomaterials Acetylcholinesterase enzyme matrices for organophosphorus pesticides electrochemical sensors: A review. Sensors. 2009;9(6):4034–55.
- 39. Van Dyk JS, Pletschke B. Review on the use of enzymes for the detection of organochlorine, organophosphate and carbamate pesticides in the environment. Chemosphere [Internet]. 2011;82(3):291–307. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.10.033
- 40. Marco MP, Gee S, Hammock BD. Immunochemical techniques for environmental analysis I. Immunosensors. Trends Anal Chem. 1995;14(7):341– 50.
- 41. Luque de Castro MD, Herrera MC. Enzyme inhibition-based biosensors and biosensing systems: Questionable analytical devices. Biosens Bioelectron. 2002;18(2–3):279–94.
- 42. Freire RS, Pessoa CA, Mello LD, Kubota LT. Direct electron transfer: An approach for electrochemical biosensors with higher selectivity and sensitivity. J Braz Chem Soc. 2003;14(2):230–43.
- 43. Ronkainen NJ, Halsall HB, Heineman WR. Electrochemical biosensors. Chem Soc Rev. 2010;39(5):1747–63.
- 44. Rahimi P, Joseph Y. Enzyme-based biosensors for choline analysis: A review. TrAC - Trends Anal Chem [Internet]. 2019;110:367–74. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.11.035
- Yogeswaran U, Chen SM. A Review on the Electrochemical Sensors and Biosensors Composed of Nanowires as Sensing Material. Sensors. 2008;8:290– 313.
- Suwansa-Ard S, Kanatharana P, Asawatreratanakul P, Limsakul C, Wongkittisuksa B, Thavarungkul P. Semi disposable reactor biosensors for detecting carbamate pesticides in water. Biosens Bioelectron. 2005;21(3):445– 54.
- 47. Lin Y, Lu F, Wang J. Disposable Carbon Nanotube Modified Screen-Printed Biosensor for Amperometric Detection of Organophosphorus Pesticides and Nerve Agents. Electroanalysis. 2004;16(1–2):145–9.
- 48. Sotiropoulou S, Fournier D, Chaniotakis NA. Genetically engineered acetylcholinesterase-based biosensor for attomolar detection of dichlorvos. Biosens Bioelectron. 2005;20(11):2347–52.
- 49. Jain M, Yadav P, Joshi A, Kodgire P. Advances in detection of hazardous organophosphorus compounds using organophosphorus hydrolase based biosensors. Crit Rev Toxicol. 2019;49(5):387–410.
- 50. Mulchandani A, Mulchandani P, Kaneva I, Chen W. Biosensor for direct determination of organophosphate nerve agents using recombinant Escherichia

coli with surface-expressed organophosphorus hydrolase. 1. Potentiometric microbial electrode. Anal Chem. 1998;70(19):4140–5.

- Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Alda MJL De, Marco MP, Barceló D. Biosensors for environmental monitoring: A global perspective. Talanta. 2005;65(2 SPEC. ISS.):291–7.
- 52. Collings AF, Caruso F. Biosensors : recent advances. Rep Prog Phys. 1997;1397(60):1399–440.
- Liu S, Yuan L, Yue X, Zheng Z, Tang Z. Recent Advances in Nanosensors for Organophosphate Pesticide Detection. Adv Powder Technol [Internet]. 2008;19(5):419–41. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8831(08)60910-3
- 54. Prieto-Simón B, Campàs M, Andreescu S, Marty JL. Trends in flow-based biosensing systems for pesticide assessment. Sensors. 2006;6(10):1161–86.
- Pogačnik L, Franko M. Detection of organophosphate and carbamate pesticides in vegetable samples by a photothermal biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron. 2003;18(1):1–9.
- 56. Montesinos T, Pérez-Munguia S, Valdez F, Marty JL. Disposable cholinesterase biosensor for the detection of pesticides in water-miscible organic solvents. Anal Chim Acta. 2001;431(2):231–7.
- 57. Krasiński A, Radić Z, Manetsch R, Raushel J, Taylor P, Sharpless KB, et al. In situ selection of lead compounds by click chemistry: Target-guided optimization of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors. J Am Chem Soc. 2005;127(18):6686–92.
- 58. Somerset VS, Klink MJ, Sekota MMC, Baker PGL, Iwuoha EI. Polyanilinemercaptobenzothiazole biosensor for organophosphate and carbamate pesticides. Anal Lett. 2006;39(8):1683–98.
- 59. Lin G, Lee YR, Liu YC, Wu YG. Ortho effects for inhibition mechanisms of butyrylcholinesterase by o-substituted phenyl N-butyl carbamates and comparison with acetylcholinesterase, cholesterol esterase, and lipase. Chem Res Toxicol. 2005;18(7):1124–31.
- 60. Liu B, Yang YH, Wu ZY, Wang H, Shen GL, Yu RQ. A potentiometric acetylcholinesterase biosensor based on plasma-polymerized film. Sensors Actuators, B Chem. 2005;104(2):186–90.
- 61. Andreou VG, Clonis YD. A portable fiber-optic pesticide biosensor based on immobilized cholinesterase and sol-gel entrapped bromcresol purple for in-field use. Biosens Bioelectron. 2002;17(1–2):61–9.
- 62. Wong FCM, Ahmad M, Heng LY, Peng LB. An optical biosensor for dichlovos using stacked sol-gel films containing acetylcholinesterase and a lipophilic chromoionophore. Talanta. 2006;69(4):888–93.
- 63. Jha N, Ramaprabhu S. Development of MWNT based disposable biosensor on glassy Carbon electrode for the detection of organophosphorus nerve agents. J Nanosci Nanotechnol. 2009;9(9):5676–80.
- 64. Andreescu S, Marty JL. Twenty years research in cholinesterase biosensors: From basic research to practical applications. Biomol Eng. 2006;23(1):1–15.
- 65. Snejdarkova M, Svobodova L, Evtugyn G, Budnikov H, Karyakin A, Nikolelis DP, et al. Acetylcholinesterase sensors based on gold electrodes modified with

dendrimer and polyaniline: A comparative research. Anal Chim Acta. 2004;514(1):79–88.

- 66. Meng X, Wei J, Ren X, Ren J, Tang F. A simple and sensitive fluorescence biosensor for detection of organophosphorus pesticides using H2O2-sensitive quantum dots/bi-enzyme. Biosens Bioelectron [Internet]. 2013;47:402–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2013.03.053
- 67. Sassolas A, Blum LJ, Leca-Bouvier BD. Immobilization strategies to develop enzymatic biosensors. Biotechnol Adv [Internet]. 2012;30(3):489–511. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.09.003
- 68. Moccelini SK, Vieira IC, De Lima F, Lucca BG, Barbosa AMJ, Ferreira VS. Determination of thiodicarb using a biosensor based on alfalfa sprout peroxidase immobilized in self-assembled monolayers. Talanta. 2010;82(1):164–70.
- 69. Oliveira GC, Moccelini SK, Castilho M, Terezo AJ, Possavatz J, Magalhães MRL, et al. Biosensor based on atemoya peroxidase immobilised on modified nanoclay for glyphosate biomonitoring. Talanta. 2012;98:130–6.
- 70. Tanimoto de Albuquerque YD, Ferreira LF. Amperometric biosensing of carbamate and organophosphate pesticides utilizing screen-printed tyrosinase-modified electrodes. Anal Chim Acta. 2007;596(2):210–21.
- Vidal JC, Esteban S, Gil J, Castillo JR. A comparative study of immobilization methods of a tyrosinase enzyme on electrodes and their application to the detection of dichlorvos organophosphorus insecticide. Talanta. 2006;68(3):791–9.
- 72. de Lima F, Lucca BG, Barbosa AMJ, Ferreira VS, Moccelini SK, Franzoi AC, et al. Biosensor based on pequi polyphenol oxidase immobilized on chitosan crosslinked with cyanuric chloride for thiodicarb determination. Enzyme Microb Technol. 2010;47(4):153–8.
- 73. Kim GY, Kang MS, Shim J, Moon SH. Substrate-bound tyrosinase electrode using gold nanoparticles anchored to pyrroloquinoline quinone for a pesticide biosensor. Sensors Actuators, B Chem. 2008;133(1):1–4.
- 74. Pabbi M, Kaur A, Mittal SK, Jindal R. A surface expressed alkaline phosphatase biosensor modified with flower shaped ZnO for the detection of chlorpyrifos. Sensors Actuators, B Chem [Internet]. 2018;258:215–27. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2017.11.079
- 75. García Sánchez F, Navas Díaz A, Ramos Peinado MC, Belledone C. Free and sol-gel immobilized alkaline phosphatase-based biosensor for the determination of pesticides and inorganic compounds. Anal Chim Acta. 2003;484(1):45–51.
- 76. Mazzei F, Botrè F, Botrè C. Acid phosphatase/glucose oxidase-based biosensors for the determination of pesticides. Anal Chim Acta. 1996;336(1–3):67–75.
- 77. Sanllorente-Méndez S, Domínguez-Renedo O, Arcos-Martínez MJ. Development of acid phosphatase based amperometric biosensors for the inhibitive determination of As(V). Talanta [Internet]. 2012;93:301–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2012.02.037
- 78. Tagad CK, Kulkarni A, Aiyer RC, Patil D, Sabharwal SG. A miniaturized optical biosensor for the detection of Hg2+ based on acid phosphatase inhibition. Optik (Stuttg) [Internet]. 2016;127(20):8807–11. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2016.06.123

- Rodríguez-Delgado MM, Alemán-Nava GS, Rodríguez-Delgado JM, Dieck-Assad G, Martínez-Chapa SO, Barceló D, et al. Laccase-based biosensors for detection of phenolic compounds. TrAC - Trends Anal Chem [Internet]. 2015;74:21–45. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2015.05.008
- Oliveira TMBF, Fátima Barroso M, Morais S, Araújo M, Freire C, de Lima-Neto P, et al. Laccase-Prussian blue film-graphene doped carbon paste modified electrode for carbamate pesticides quantification. Biosens Bioelectron. 2013;47:292–9.
- 81. Oliveira TMBF, Fátima Barroso M, Morais S, De Lima-Neto P, Correia AN, Oliveira MBPP, et al. Biosensor based on multi-walled carbon nanotubes paste electrode modified with laccase for pirimicarb pesticide quantification. Talanta. 2013;106:137–43.
- 82. Ribeiro FWP, Barroso MF, Morais S, Viswanathan S, de Lima-Neto P, Correia AN, et al. Simple laccase-based biosensor for formetanate hydrochloride quantification in fruits. Bioelectrochemistry [Internet]. 2014;95:7–14. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2013.09.005
- 83. Zhang Y, Li X, Li D, Wei Q. A laccase based biosensor on AuNPs-MoS2 modified glassy carbon electrode for catechol detection. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces [Internet]. 2020;186(September 2019):110683. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.110683
- 84. Braham Y, Barhoumi H, Maaref A. Urease capacitive biosensors using functionalized magnetic nanoparticles for atrazine pesticide detection in environmental samples. Anal Methods. 2013;5(18):4898–904.
- 85. Vaghela C, Kulkarni M, Haram S, Aiyer R, Karve M. A novel inhibition based biosensor using urease nanoconjugate entrapped biocomposite membrane for potentiometric glyphosate detection. Int J Biol Macromol [Internet]. 2018;108:32–40. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.11.136
- 86. Noguer T, Marty JL. High sensitive bienzymic sensor for the detection of dithiocarbamate fungicides. Anal Chim Acta. 1997;347(1–2):63–70.
- 87. Noguer T, Leca B, Jeanty G, Marty JL. Biosensors Based on Enzyme Inhibition: Detection of Organophosphorus and Carbamate Insecticides and Dithiocarbamate Fungicides. F Anal Chem Technol. 1999;3(3):171–8.
- 88. Noguer T, Balasoiu AM, Avramescu A, Marty JL. Development of a disposable biosensor for the detection of metam-sodium and its metabolite MITC. Anal Lett. 2001;34(4):513–28.
- Choi JW, Kim YK, Song SY, Lee IH, Lee WH. Optical biosensor consisting of glutathione-S-transferase for detection of captan. Biosens Bioelectron. 2003;18(12):1461–6.
- 90. Oliveira TIS, Oliveira M, Viswanathan S, Barroso MF, Barreiros L, Nunes OC, et al. Molinate quantification in environmental water by a glutathione-S-transferase based biosensor. Talanta. 2013;106:249–54.
- 91. Andreou VG, Clonis YD. Novel fiber-optic biosensor based on immobilized glutathione S-transferase and sol-gel entrapped bromcresol green for the determination of atrazine. Anal Chim Acta. 2002;460(2):151–61.
- 92. Mulchandani A, Chen W, Mulchandani P, Wang J, Rogers KR. Biosensors for

direct determination of organophosphate pesticides. Biosens Bioelectron. 2001;16(4–5):225–30.

- 93. Orbulescu J, Constantine CA, Rastogi VK, Shah SS, Defrank JJ, Leblanc RM. Detection of Organophosphorus Compounds by. October. 2006;78(19):7016–21.
- 94. Maheshwari DT, Varsha T, Kumar NS. Extraction and Purification of Organophosphorus hydrolase Enzyme from Soil Microorganism Pseudomonas diminuta. Def Life Sci J. 2017;2(4):416.
- 95. Lee JH, Park JY, Min K, Cha HJ, Choi SS, Yoo YJ. A novel organophosphorus hydrolase-based biosensor using mesoporous carbons and carbon black for the detection of organophosphate nerve agents. Biosens Bioelectron [Internet]. 2010;25(7):1566–70. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2009.10.013
- 96. Khaksarinejad R, Mohsenifar A, Rahmani-Cherati T, Karami R, Tabatabaei M. An Organophosphorus Hydrolase-Based Biosensor for Direct Detection of Paraoxon Using Silica-Coated Magnetic Nanoparticles. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2015;176(2):359–71.
- 97. Chen S, Huang J, Du D, Li J, Tu H, Liu D, et al. Methyl parathion hydrolase based nanocomposite biosensors for highly sensitive and selective determination of methyl parathion. Biosens Bioelectron [Internet]. 2011;26(11):4320–5. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2011.04.025
- 98. Liu G, Guo W, Yin Z. Covalent fabrication of methyl parathion hydrolase on gold nanoparticles modified carbon substrates for designing a methyl parathion biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron [Internet]. 2014;53:440–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2013.10.025
- 99. Simonian AL, Good TA, Wang SS, Wild JR. Nanoparticle-based optical biosensors for the direct detection of organophosphate chemical warfare agents and pesticides. Anal Chim Acta. 2005;534(1):69–77.
- 100. Ayyagari MS, Kamtekar S, Pande R, Marx KA, Kumar J, Tripathy SK, et al. Biosensors for pesticide detection based on alkaline phosphatase-catalyzed chemiluminescence. Mater Sci Eng C. 1995;2(4):191–6.
- 101. Zheng Z, Li X, Dai Z, Liu S, Zhiyoung T. Detection of mixed organophosphorus pesticides in real samples using. J Mater Chem. 2011;21(2):16955–62.
- 102. Singh RP, Kim YJ, Oh BK, Choi JW. Glutathione-s-transferase based electrochemical biosensor for the detection of captan. Electrochem commun [Internet]. 2009;11(1):181–5. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.elecom.2008.11.003